
Area North Committee

Wednesday 25th September 2019

2.00 pm

Council Chamber, Council Offices,
Brympton Way, Yeovil BA20 2HT

(disabled access and a hearing loop are available at this meeting venue)  

The following members are requested to attend this meeting:

Neil Bloomfield
Malcolm Cavill
Louise Clarke
Adam Dance

Mike Hewitson
Tim Kerley
Tiffany Osborne
Clare Paul

Crispin Raikes
Dean Ruddle
Mike Stanton
Gerard Tucker

Consideration of the planning application will commence no earlier than 2.30pm. 

For further information on the items to be discussed, please contact the Case Services 
Officer (Support Services) on 01935 462596 or democracy@southsomerset.gov.uk

This Agenda was issued on Tuesday 17 September 2019.

Alex Parmley, Chief Executive Officer

This information is also available on our website
www.southsomerset.gov.uk and via the mod.gov app    

Public Document Pack



Information for the Public

The council has a well-established area committee system and through four area committees 
seeks to strengthen links between the Council and its local communities, allowing planning and 
other local issues to be decided at a local level (planning recommendations outside council 
policy are referred to the district wide Regulation Committee).

Decisions made by area committees, which include financial or policy implications are generally 
classed as executive decisions.  Where these financial or policy decisions have a significant 
impact on council budgets or the local community, agendas will record these decisions as “key 
decisions”. The council’s Executive Forward Plan can be viewed online for details of 
executive/key decisions which are scheduled to be taken in the coming months.  Non-executive 
decisions taken by area committees include planning, and other quasi-judicial decisions.

At area committee meetings members of the public are able to:

 attend and make verbal or written representations, except where, for example, personal or 
confidential matters are being discussed;

 at the area committee chairman’s discretion, members of the public are permitted to speak for 
up to up to three minutes on agenda items; and

 see agenda reports

Meetings of the Area North Committee are held monthly, usually at 2.00pm, on the fourth 
Wednesday of the month (except December). 

Agendas and minutes of meetings are published on the council’s website 
http://modgov.southsomerset.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?bcr=1

Agendas and minutes can also be viewed via the mod.gov app (free) available for iPads and 
Android devices. Search for ‘mod.gov’ in the app store for your device, install, and select ‘South 
Somerset’ from the list of publishers, then select the committees of interest. A wi-fi signal will be 
required for a very short time to download an agenda but once downloaded, documents will be 
viewable offline.

Public participation at committees

Public question time
The period allowed for participation in this session shall not exceed 15 minutes except with the 
consent of the Chairman of the Committee. Each individual speaker shall be restricted to a total 
of three minutes.

Planning applications
Consideration of planning applications at this meeting will commence no earlier than the time 
stated at the front of the agenda and on the planning applications schedule. The public and 
representatives of parish/town councils will be invited to speak on the individual planning 
applications at the time they are considered. 

Comments should be confined to additional information or issues, which have not been fully 
covered in the officer’s report. Members of the public are asked to submit any additional 
documents to the planning officer at least 72 hours in advance and not to present them to the 
Committee on the day of the meeting. This will give the planning officer the opportunity to 
respond appropriately. Information from the public should not be tabled at the meeting. It should 

http://modgov.southsomerset.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?bcr=1


also be noted that, in the interests of fairness, the use of presentational aids (e.g. PowerPoint) 
by the applicant/agent or those making representations will not be permitted. However, the 
applicant/agent or those making representations are able to ask the planning officer to include 
photographs/images within the officer’s presentation subject to them being received by the 
officer at least 72 hours prior to the meeting. No more than 5 photographs/images either 
supporting or against the application to be submitted. The planning officer will also need to be 
satisfied that the photographs are appropriate in terms of planning grounds.

At the committee chairman’s discretion, members of the public are permitted to speak for up to 
three minutes each and where there are a number of persons wishing to speak they should be 
encouraged to choose one spokesperson to speak either for the applicant or on behalf of any 
supporters or objectors to the application. The total period allowed for such participation on each 
application shall not normally exceed 15 minutes.

The order of speaking on planning items will be:
 Town or Parish Council Spokesperson
 Objectors 
 Supporters
 Applicant and/or Agent
 District Council Ward Member

If a member of the public wishes to speak they must inform the committee administrator before 
the meeting begins of their name and whether they have supporting comments or objections and 
who they are representing.  This must be done by completing one of the public participation slips 
available at the meeting.

In exceptional circumstances, the Chairman of the Committee shall have discretion to vary the 
procedure set out to ensure fairness to all sides. 

Recording and photography at council meetings

Recording of council meetings is permitted, however anyone wishing to do so should let the 
Chairperson of the meeting know prior to the start of the meeting. The recording should be overt 
and clearly visible to anyone at the meeting, but non-disruptive. If someone is recording the 
meeting, the Chairman will make an announcement at the beginning of the meeting. 

Any member of the public has the right not to be recorded. If anyone making public 
representation does not wish to be recorded they must let the Chairperson know.

The full ‘Policy on Audio/Visual Recording and Photography at Council Meetings’ can be viewed 
online at:
http://modgov.southsomerset.gov.uk/documents/s3327/Policy%20on%20the%20recording%20of
%20council%20meetings.pdf

Ordnance Survey mapping/map data included within this publication is provided by South Somerset District Council 
under licence from the Ordnance Survey in order to fulfil its public function to undertake its statutory functions on 
behalf of the district.  Persons viewing this mapping should contact Ordnance Survey copyright for advice where they 
wish to licence Ordnance Survey mapping/map data for their own use. South Somerset District Council - 
LA100019471 - 2019.

http://modgov.southsomerset.gov.uk/documents/s3327/Policy%20on%20the%20recording%20of%20council%20meetings.pdf
http://modgov.southsomerset.gov.uk/documents/s3327/Policy%20on%20the%20recording%20of%20council%20meetings.pdf


Area North Committee
Wednesday 25 September 2019

Agenda
Preliminary Items

1.  Minutes 

To approve as a correct record the minutes of the previous meeting held on 28 August 2019. 
The draft minutes can be viewed at:
 http://modgov.southsomerset.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=129&Year=0

2.  Apologies for absence 

3.  Declarations of Interest 

In accordance with the Council’s current Code of Conduct (as amended 26 February 2015), 
which includes all the provisions relating to Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPI), personal and 
prejudicial interests, Members are asked to declare any DPI and also any personal interests 
(and whether or not such personal interests are also “prejudicial”) in relation to any matter on the 
Agenda for this meeting.  

Members are reminded that they need to declare the fact that they are also a member of a 
County, Town or Parish Council as a Personal Interest.  Where you are also a member of 
Somerset County Council and/or a Town or Parish Council within South Somerset you must 
declare a prejudicial interest in any business on the agenda where there is a financial benefit or 
gain or advantage to Somerset County Council and/or a Town or Parish Council which would be 
at the cost or to the financial disadvantage of South Somerset District Council.  

Planning Applications Referred to the Regulation Committee 

The following members of this Committee are also members of the Council’s Regulation 
Committee:

Councillors Neil Bloomfield, Adam Dance and Crispin Raikes.

Where planning applications are referred by this Committee to the Regulation Committee for 
determination, Members of the Regulation Committee can participate and vote on these items at 
the Area Committee and at Regulation Committee.  In these cases the Council’s decision-
making process is not complete until the application is determined by the Regulation Committee.  
Members of the Regulation Committee retain an open mind and will not finalise their position 
until the Regulation Committee.  They will also consider the matter at Regulation Committee as 
Members of that Committee and not as representatives of the Area Committee.

4.  Date of next meeting 

Councillors are requested to note that the next Area North Committee meeting is scheduled to 
be held at 2.00pm on Wednesday 23 October 2019 in the Council Chamber, Council 
Offices, Brympton Way, Yeovil.

5.  Public question time 

http://modgov.southsomerset.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=129&Year=0


6.  Chairman's announcements 

7.  Reports from members 

Items for Discussion

8.  Community Capital Grant Request to the Parochial Church Council of All Saints 
Church, Isle Brewers (Executive Decision) (Pages 6 - 11)

9.  Area North Committee Forward Plan (Pages 12 - 13)

10.  Planning Appeals (Page 14)

11.  Schedule of Planning Applications to be Determined By Committee (Pages 15 - 16)

12.  Planning Application 18/03483/OUT** - Land to the North of Bancombe Road, 
Somerton. (Pages 17 - 34)

Please note that the decisions taken by Area Committees may be called in for 
scrutiny by the Council’s Scrutiny Committee prior to implementation.

This does not apply to decisions taken on planning applications.



Community Capital Grant Request to the Parochial Church Council of 
All Saints Church, Isle Brewers (Executive Decision) 

Director: Martin Woods, Director of Service Delivery
Manager / Lead Specialist: Tim Cook, Locality Manager
Lead Officer: Adrian Moore, Locality Officer
Contact Details: adrian.moore@southsomerset.gov.uk or 01935 462409

Purpose of the Report 

Councillors are asked to consider the awarding of a capital grant of £35,000 towards creating a 
community space within the recently restored historical building of All Saints Church, Isle Brewers for 
the use of the Village of Isle Brewers and surrounding communities that currently lack a suitable facility.

Public Interest

Awarding grants is a key way that SSDC supports and helps to deliver community projects sponsored 
by Parishes and voluntary community organisations in the towns and villages across the district.

The Parochial Church Council of All Saints Church, Isle Brewers has applied to the Area North 
community grants programme for financial assistance with the costs of creating a multifunctional usable 
community space within the restored church building of All Saints Church, Isle Brewers TA3 6QN. The 
application has been assessed by the Locality Officer who is submitting this report to enable the Area 
North Committee to make an informed decision about the application.
 

Recommendation

That Area North Committee endorse the awarding of a grant, and recommend to District Executive that 
a grant of £35,000 be awarded to The Parochial Church Council of All Saints Church, Isle Brewers 
towards an ambitious £169,000 project to create a multifunctional usable community space within the 
restored All Saints Church building. The grant to be allocated from the Area North capital programme 
and subject to SSDC standard conditions for community grants (Appendix A). 

Note - Within the District Council’s scheme of delegation, capital projects seeking up to £12,500 are 
considered by Area Committees but District Executive is the decision making body for amounts over 
£12,500.

Application Details

Name of applicant: Parochial Church Council of All Saints Church, Isle Brewers
Project: Create a multifunctional usable community space within the 

restored church building of All Saints Church, Isle Brewers TA3 
6QN

Total project cost: £169,000 plus VAT
Amount requested from SSDC: £35,000
Application assessed by: Adrian Moore, Locality Officer

Page 6

Agenda Item 8



Capital Grant Assessment Score

The table below shows the grant scoring for this application. When assessed, projects which score 
above 22 points are eligible for SSDC support under the current Districtwide policy.

Category Actual score Maximum score possible
A  Eligibility Yes Y/N
B  Equalities Impact 5 7
C  Need for project 5 5
D  Capacity of organisation 13 15
E  Financial need 6 7
F  Innovation 3 3
Total 32 37

Background

Isle Brewers is a small village on the edge of the Somerset levels. There is no parish council but a very 
active village committee. The parish church of All Saints in Isle Brewers was built in 1861. The original 
Church of All Saints stood near the Domesday Mill. Four years ago a meeting was held in Hambridge 
Village Hall to discuss the future of the Church building due to its structural deterioration and subsequent 
danger to all users. A recommendation to close the church and let it deteriorate to the mercy of the 
elements was made. As the only public building left in the village of Isle Brewers, a dedicated band of 
Villagers did not accept the recommendation and set about planning for its restoration with the ambition, 
if funding could be found, of including a community space within the design.

The church has a small congregation and the village badly needs a usable community space with 
modern facilities for the whole community to be able to use all year round. The idea is to combine both 
user groups and capture the operational synergies all under one roof.

The structural building restoration part of the project is already well underway with the whole church 
currently covered in scaffolding with a false roof and entirely wrapped to keep out the elements. When 
complete this will remove Isle Brewers Church from the 'At Risk Register'.

Parish information

Parish* Isle Brewers
Parish Population 150
No. of dwellings 100

*Taken from the 2011 census profile

The project

The combined cost of restoration of the church building and the community space, inc VAT, stands at a 
total of £627,624. 

The community space element of the overall project is £169,000.

Heritage Lottery Funding of £69,000 is already secured for the community space project.

Page 7



The current shortfall in funding the community space element of the project is £99,836. 

An application has recently been submitted to the Lottery Community Fund for £65,000 and Isle Brewers 
have been informed that they are already through to the last 20% of applicants and should find out if 
they are successful by the end of September 2019. 

The request to SSDC is to consider providing a grant to cover the £35,000 shortfall to enable this project 
to be successfully completed.

The community space project will include: Supervising architect design fees, structural engineering fees, 
preliminary costs, contingency, a new water supply, drainage, wood treatment, new ventilation, a 
mezzanine intermediate floor and associated staircase, secondary double glazing, accessible toilet, 
kitchen goods, fitted servery, engineered insulated oak flooring, heat exchangers heating system, light 
emitting diode (LED) lighting, decoration, audio visual equipment and a disabled access ramp.

Local support / evidence of need

There is a real need for a community space in Isle Brewers. Whilst the Village history can be traced 
back to the Doomsday Book, the only public building is the church. Since the public house closed over 
50 years ago, it has never had a place for villagers to gather for social occasions. It is two miles to the 
nearest bus stop and there has not been a shop in the village since the post office closed 24 years ago. 
As the South Somerset census details reveal, the average age of the population is much higher than 
the national average as 46% of the population are 60 years plus. Tackling rural loneliness amongst the 
elderly, particularly in the winter months, is a primary objective of this community space project. 
 
A very similar project has already been delivered in South Somerset at The Anglican Church of St Peter 
in the village South Barrow in Area East. The Isle Brewers committee have undertaken extensive 
research investigating the restoration of their church and developing their community space project and 
were greatly inspired by the project at South Barrow. It led Isle Brewers to employ the architect South 
Barrow used so that they can enjoy the same expertise, attention to detail and outcomes. SSDC Area 
East Committee financially supported the South Barrow church community space project through a 
Community Grant.

Two years ago, with a purpose built community centre in mind, a rare opportunity arose for the Parish 
to buy a 1.9 acre field opposite the Church from the Duchy. This was funded by the Village Trust, local 
donations and the Duchy accepting the Parish’s under bid as a higher bid had been lodge with them. 
The field will now provide car parking for the new community space within the restored church as well 
as additional space for young people in the village and Summer Fetes and fairs, etc.

Project Costs 

Project Costs
Supervising Architect Design Fees
Structural Engineering Fees
Preliminary Costs
Contingency
Water Supply
Drainage
Wood Treatment
Ventilation
Mezzanine Intermediate Floor and Associated Staircase

Page 8



Secondary Double Glazing
Accessible Toilet
Kitchen Goods
Fitted Servery 
Engineered Insulated Oak Flooring
Heat Exchangers Heating System
LED lighting
Decoration
Audio Visual Equipment
Disabled Access Ramp

Total £169,000

Funding plan

Funding Source Secured or Pending Amount £

National Lottery Community Fund Pending £65,000
South Somerset District Council Pending £35,000
Heritage Lottery Funding Secured £69,000

Total £169,000

Conclusion and Recommendation

Area North Committee endorse the awarding of a grant, and recommend to District Executive that a 
grant of £35,000 be awarded

Financial implications

Within the District Council’s scheme of delegation, capital projects seeking up to £12,500 are considered 
by Area Committees but District Executive is the decision making body for amounts over £12,500.

Area North Committee is being asked to endorse this funding request for £35,000 ahead of it being 
referred to District Executive for a decision. 

There is an unallocated balance of £149,755 in the Area North Capital Reserve.  If the recommended 
grant of £35,000 is awarded, it will leave a remaining unallocated balance of £114,755.

Grants are awarded subject to all other funding being secured before the commencement of the project 
and are on a % basis of the full project costs. Payment of the grant cannot exceed the grant award and 
is proportionally reduced if full project costs are under budget. 

Council Plan Implications 

Key priorities for Area North - Area Chapter: 

 Healthy, Self-reliant Communities
o Support a range of improvements to community buildings

Page 9



Council Plan themes and Areas of focus for 2019/20

Healthy, Self-reliant Communities

To enable healthy communities which are cohesive, sustainable and enjoy a high quality of life 
we will:
 Embed social value into all processes and activities to ensure we maximise the support we give 

to our communities.
 Work with partners to reduce the impact of social isolation and create a feeling of community.
 Work with partners to support people in improving their own physical and mental health and 

wellbeing.
 Enable quality cultural, leisure and sport activities.

Environment

To keep South Somerset clean, green, attractive and sustainable we will:
 Promote a high-quality built environment

Carbon Emissions and Climate Change Implications 

The selection of efficient low energy items and effective insulation techniques will collectively help 
increase energy efficiency and ultimately reduce the carbon footprint related to the running of this 
community space and building.  Modern items and construction techniques include: Heat Exchangers, 
LED lighting, insulated wood flooring, secondary double-glazing, modern kitchen appliances.

Equality and Diversity Implications

The project aims to provide for people across all age and interest groups in the local community. 

Background Papers

None

Page 10



Appendix A

Standard conditions applying to all SSDC Community Grants

The applicant agrees to: -

 Notify SSDC if there is a material change to the information provided in the application.
 Start the project within six months of the grant offer and notify SSDC of any changes to the 

project or start date as soon as possible.
 Confirm that all other funding sources have been secured before starting the project, if these 

were not already in place at the time of the application.
 Acknowledge SSDC assistance towards the project in any relevant publicity about the project 

(e.g. leaflets, posters, websites, and promotional materials) and on any permanent 
acknowledgement (e.g. plaques, signs etc.).

 Work in conjunction with SSDC officers to monitor and share the success of the project and the 
benefits to the community resulting from SSDC's contribution to the project.

 Provide a project update and/or supply before and after photos if requested.
 Supply receipted invoices or receipts which provide evidence of the full cost of the project so 

that the grant can be released.

Standard conditions applying to buildings, facilities and equipment

 Establish and maintain a “sinking fund” to support future replacement of the building / facility / 
equipment as grant funding is only awarded on a one-off basis.

 Use the SSDC Building Control Service when buildings regulations are required.
 Incorporate disabled access and provide an access statement where relevant.

Page 11



Area North Committee – Forward Plan

Director: Netta Meadows, Strategy and Support Services
Officer: Becky Sanders, Case Services Officer (Support Services)
Contact Details: becky.sanders@southsomerset.gov.uk or (01935) 462596

Purpose of the Report

This report informs Members of the Area North Committee Forward Plan.

Public Interest

The forward plan sets out items and issues to be discussed over the coming few months. It is reviewed 
and updated each month, and included within the Area North Committee agenda, where members of 
the committee may endorse or request amendments.

Recommendation

Members are asked to note and comment upon the Area North Committee Forward Plan as attached, 
and to identify priorities for any further reports. 

Area North Committee Forward Plan 

Members of the public, councillors, service managers, and partners may also request an item be placed 
within the forward plan for a future meeting, by contacting the Agenda Co-ordinator.

Items marked in italics are not yet confirmed, due to the attendance of additional representatives.

To make the best use of the committee, the focus for topics should be on issues where local involvement 
and influence may be beneficial, and where local priorities and issues raised by the community are 
linked to SSDC and SCC corporate aims and objectives.

Further details on these items, or to suggest / request an agenda item for the Area North Committee, 
please contact one of the officers named above.

Background Papers: None

Page 12

Agenda Item 9



Area North Committee Forward Plan

Further details on these items, or to suggest / request an agenda item for the Area North Committee, please contact the Agenda                           
Co-ordinator; at democracy@southsomerset.gov.uk

Items marked in italics are not yet confirmed, due to the attendance of additional representatives.   

Meeting 
Date Agenda Item Background / Purpose

Lead Officer(s)

SSDC unless stated otherwise

Nov ‘19 Area Chapter in the Council Plan To consider the Area Chapter for the Council Plan. Specialists, Strategy & Commissioning

TBC Somerton Conservation Area Report regarding the Somerton Conservation Area 
Appraisal and designation of extensions to the 
Conservation Area.

TBC

TBC Community Grants To consider any requests for funding. TBC

P
age 13

mailto:democracy@southsomerset.gov.uk


Planning Appeals 

Director: Martin Woods, Service Delivery
Service Manager: Simon Fox, Lead Specialist (Planning)
Contact Details: simon.fox@southsomerset.gov.uk or 01935 462509

Purpose of the Report

To inform members of the appeals that have been lodged, decided upon or withdrawn.

Public Interest

The Area Chairmen have asked that a monthly report relating to the number of appeals received, 
decided upon or withdrawn be submitted to the Committee.

Recommendation

That members comment upon and note the report.

Appeals Lodged

19/00489/FUL – 66 Behind Berry, Somerton.
The erection of a single storey dwelling.

19/00952/HOU – Southernaways Cottage, Water Street, Seavington St Mary.
Erection of a garden room and garden store (revised retrospective application)

Appeals Dismissed

None

Appeals Allowed 

None

Page 14

Agenda Item 10



Schedule of Planning Applications to be Determined by Committee

Director: Martin Woods, Service Delivery
Service Manager: Simon Fox, Lead Officer (Development Management)
Contact Details: simon.fox@southsomerset.gov.uk or 01935 462509

Purpose of the Report 

The schedule of planning applications sets out the applications to be determined by Area North 
Committee at this meeting.

Recommendation

Members are asked to note the schedule of planning applications.

Planning Applications will be considered no earlier than 2.30pm.

Members of the public who wish to speak about a particular planning item are recommended to arrive 
for 2.25pm. 

SCHEDULE

Agenda 
Number Ward Application Brief Summary

of Proposal Site Address Applicant

12 WESSEX 18/03483/OUT

Outline planning 
application for 
residential 
development of circa 
130 new homes, 
together with 
associated open 
space and related 
infrastructure (Means 
of access only to be 
determined).

Land to the North of 
Bancombe Road, 
Somerton.

Fairfax 
Somerton 
Ltd

Further information about planning applications is shown on the following page and at the beginning of 
the main agenda document.

The Committee will consider the applications set out in the schedule. The Planning Officer will give 
further information at the meeting and, where appropriate, advise members of letters received as a 
result of consultations since the agenda has been prepared.  

Page 15

Agenda Item 11



Referral to the Regulation Committee

The inclusion of two stars (**) as part of the Development Manager’s recommendation indicates that 
the application will need to be referred to the District Council’s Regulation Committee if the Area 
Committee is unwilling to accept that recommendation.

The Lead Planning Officer, at the Committee, in consultation with the Chairman and Solicitor, will also 
be able to recommend that an application should be referred to District Council’s Regulation 
Committee even if it has not been two starred on the Agenda.

Human Rights Act Statement

The Human Rights Act 1998 makes it unlawful, subject to certain expectations, for a public authority to 
act in a way which is incompatible with a Convention Right. However when a planning decision is to 
be made there is further provision that a public authority must take into account the public interest. 
Existing planning law has for many years demanded a balancing exercise between private rights and 
public interest and this authority's decision making takes into account this balance.  If there are 
exceptional circumstances which demand more careful and sensitive consideration of Human Rights 
issues then these will be referred to in the relevant report.

Page 16



Officer Report On Planning Application: 18/03483/OUT**

Proposal :  Outline planning application for residential development of circa 130 new 
homes, together with associated open space and related infrastructure 
(Means of access only to be determined).

Site Address: Land To The North Of Bancombe Road, Somerton. Somerset.
Parish: Somerton  
WESSEX Ward 
(SSDC Members)

Cllr T Kerley Cllr D Ruddle

Recommending 
Case Officer:

 
Tel: 01935 462430 Email: alex.skidmore@southsomerset.gov.uk

Target date : 25th January 2019  
Applicant : Fairfax Somerton Limited
Agent:
(no agent if blank)

Mr David Seaton, 13a-15a Old Park Avenue,
Pinhoe, Exeter EX1 3WD

Application Type : Major Dwlgs 10 or more or site 0.5ha+

REASON FOR REFERRAL TO COMMITTEE:

The application has been referred to committee at the request of the Ward Member Cllr Kerley and with 
the agreement of the Area Chair to enable the local concerns relating to highway matters to be further 
considered.

Page 17

Agenda Item 12



This application has also been 2-starred under the Scheme of Delegation - referral of applications to the 
Regulation Committee for determination. In collective agreement with the Leader, Portfolio Holder, Area 
Chairs, Director (Service Delivery), Monitoring Officer, and Lead Specialist (Planning) all major 
applications will be 2-starred for the immediate future to safeguard the Council's performance, pending 
a more substantive review.
 
The Area Committees will still be able to approve and condition major applications. However, if a 
committee is minded to refuse a major application, whilst it will be able to debate the issues and indicate 
grounds for refusal, the final determination will be made by the Regulation Committee.

SITE DESCRIPTION AND PROPOSAL
 
This application is seeking outline consent for up to 130 dwellings together with associated open space, 
means of access and associated infrastructure. The application is seeking to agree detailed matter of 
access with all other matters, including layout, scale, appearance and landscaping, reserved for later 
consideration. 

The site consists of two agricultural fields totalling approximately 4.85 hectares in size and is located on 
the western side of Somerton. The site is bounded by existing residential development to the east with 
the land to the west comprising some existing industrial development and residential with planning 
permission granted for further industrial development on the remaining land. The site fronts on to 
Bancombe Road to the south with the vehicular access for the development proposed via this road. On 
the opposite site of this road is further established residential development. Running along the north 
side of the site is an unclassified road known as Bradley Hill Lane beyond which is undeveloped 
agricultural land although planning permission has recently been granted (planning ref. 19/00721/CPO) 

Page 18



for a new primary school to occupy the land immediately to the northeast. A pedestrian link on to Bradley 
Hill Lane is proposed as part of this proposal. 

The application site is a relatively level site and the two fields are contained by native hedgerows to all 
sites. The site is not located within any areas of special designation, conservation areas or wildlife / 
habitat designations. There are no heritage assets in the immediate locality and the site is located within 
flood zone 1.

This application is supported by:
 Design and Access Statement
 Planning Statement
 Archaeological desk-based assessment
 Flood Risk Assessment (FRA), which includes an indicative drainage strategy
 Ground conditions and contamination assessment
 Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment
 Transport Assessment
 Travel Plan
 Phase 1 Survey and Preliminary Ecological Appraisal
 Phase 2 Surveys and Ecological Impact Assessment
 Statement of Community Involvement

HISTORY

None. 

POLICY

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act (2004), and Paragraphs 2, 11, and 12 of 
the NPPF indicate it is a matter of law that applications are determined in accordance with the 
development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

For the purposes of determining current applications the local planning authority considers that the 
adopted development plan comprises the policies of the South Somerset Local Plan 2006 2028 (adopted 
March 2015).

Policies of the South Somerset Local Plan (2006-2028)
SD1 - Sustainable Development
SS1 - Settlement Strategy
SS4 - District Wide Housing Provision
SS5 - Delivering New Housing Growth
SS6 - Infrastructure Delivery
LMT3 – Somerton Direction of Growth
EP3 - Safeguarding Employment Land
HG3 - Provision of Affordable Housing
HG5 - Achieving a Mix of Market Housing
TA1 - Low Carbon Travel
TA4 - Travel Plans
TA5 - Transport Impact of New Development
TA6 - Parking Standards
HW1 - Provision of open space, outdoor playing space, sports, cultural and community facilities in new 
development

Page 19



EQ1 - Addressing Climate Change in South Somerset
EQ2 - General Development
EQ3 - Historic Environment
EQ4 - Biodiversity
EQ5 - Green Infrastructure
EQ7 - Pollution Control

National Planning Policy Framework - March 2019
Part 2 – Achieving sustainable development
Part 5 – Delivering a sufficient supply of homes
Part 8 – Promoting healthy and safe communities
Part 9 – Promoting sustainable transport
Part 11 – Making effective use of land
Part 12 – Achieving well-designed places
Part 14 – Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change
Part 15 – Conserving and enhancing the natural environment
Part 16 – Conserving and enhancing the historic environment
Part 17 – Facilitating the sustainable use of minerals 

Planning Practice Guidance (PPG)

Other
Somerset County Council Parking Strategy (September 2013)
Somerset County Council Highways Development Control - Standing Advice (June 2017)

CONSULTATIONS

The responses from the following consultees are provided below in summary form only, for the most 
part. Where not included below, the full responses are available on the public planning file.

Somerton Town Council: Objects to the application for the following reasons: 

 The application does not include a satisfactory plan for vehicular access to Langport Road and 
the town centre. 

 The application does not include any plan for vehicular access from the site to Bradley Hill Lane 
and Northfield where the new school will be built within 2 years.

 An application for 130 dwellings does require a satisfactory vehicular access plan which is not 
currently available via the existing road network or Russet Road as indicated. The applicant has 
been made well aware by STC that these issues need to be addressed but they have not been 
addressed in this application. 

County Highway Authority:  No objection however they made the following observations and 
recommendations:

 It is noted from the drawings that it is proposed to reduce the width of Bancombe Road to 5.5m. 
This is acceptable. 

 It is noted from the drawings that the proposed width of the access road is 5.5m. This is an 
acceptable width. 

 A new 2 m wide footway is proposed along the Bancombe Road frontage which is also 
acceptable. Junction visibility splays of 2.4m x 40m have been proposed on to Bancombe Road, 
these should be 2.4m x 43m in accordance with current policy standards. 

 The Transport Assessment is generally acceptable and no capacity issues are identified. It can 

Page 20



therefore be concluded that the proposed development will not have a severe impact to the 
operation of Bancombe Road and nearby junctions and based on the information provided in the 
TA it is recommended that the application is not rejected on highway impact grounds. 

 The submitted Travel Plan requires some amendments and will need to be secured through a 
Section 106 Agreement. 

 In the event of permission being granted conditions to secure the following matters are 
recommended: 

- Phasing condition. 
- Construction Environmental Management Plan. 
- Estate road condition. 
- Prior to each dwelling being occupied it shall be served by a properly consolidated 

access. 
- Prior to occupation of any dwelling the necessary highway infrastructure – 2m wide 

pavement along the Bancombe Road frontage, new pedestrian/cycle link to Bradley Hill 
Lane and an informal pedestrian crossing point of Bancombe Road to link to the existing 
footway opposite the site. 

- Provision of properly consolidated and surfaced parking and turning spaces.
- The main estate access to have visibility splays of 2.4m x 43m in either direction. 

 
SSDC Highway Consultant: Refer to SCC advice.

SCC Rights of Way: No objection. Noted that there is a public right of way (PROW) that runs adjacent 
to the site (public footpath L 25/8). 

SCC Minerals and Waste Team: No comments received.

SCC Education (EdA): Originally the EdA made the following request for contributions towards 
education provision: 

130 homes in this location will generate the following number of children: 

0.05 x 130 = 6.5 (7) early years pupils
0.32 x 130 = 41.6 (42) primary pupils
0.14 x 130 = 18.2 (19) secondary pupils

The average costs to build per pupil for early years and primary is £17,074 and secondary cost to build 
is £24,861 per pupil. Therefore the education contributions sought to ensure that appropriate education 
infrastructure is in place for the pupils from this development is: 

7 x £17,074 = £119,518 for early years 
42 x £17,074 = £717,108 for primary
19 x £24,861 = £472,359 for secondary). 

Totalling = £1,308,985

The applicant however challenged the basis of the EdA’s request, challenging their methodology and 
workings. Following lengthy negotiations and discussions with the EdA they revised their contribution 
request as follows: 

 £599,999 towards primary school provision (equates to 35 primary pupils). 

SSDC Housing: Policy requires 35% affordable housing split 80:20 social rent; intermediate product. 
This new split is evidenced in the Mendip, Sedgemoor, South Somerset and Taunton Dean Strategic 
Housing Market Assessment (October 2016). This would equate to 46 of the 130 dwellings be affordable 

Page 21



split 37 social rent and 9 for other intermediate affordable housing including the following mix of house 
sizes: 

14 x 1 bed houses / flats  
14 x 2 bed houses / flats / bungalows  
16 x 3 bed houses / bungalows
1 x 4 bed house (available at a social rent)  
1 x 4 bed parlour house (available at a social rent)

It is expected that the prevailing minimum space standards are adhered to: 

1 bedroom flat / house 47 sqm / 55 sqm
2 bedroom flat 66 sqm
2 bedroom house 76 sqm (86 sqm if 3 storey)
3 bedroom house 86 sqm (94 sqm if 3 storey)
4 bedroom house 106 sqm (114 sqm if 3 storey)
4 bedroom (parlour) house 125 sqm (134 sqm if 3 storey)

The affordable units should be pepper potted throughout the site and the units developed to blend in 
with the proposed housing styles with a preference for houses but if flats that these have the appearance 
of houses. 

SSDC Open Spaces Officer: The indicative site layout plan identifies approximately 0.32 hectare of 
public open space (POS), an amount that is less than the required 0.5 hectare for a development of this 
size, and although not labelled as a LEAP, we suspect the rectangular area show in the middle of the 
POS will be a play area, further reducing the provision of POS. 

Whilst the linear style of this section of the plan lends itself to an area of POS in this location, we would 
prefer to see a more centrally located area to better accommodate everyone on site. An additional area 
of open space however could be located within the top half of the development to not only help achieve 
the required amount of open space but to further break up the built form in this section. 

We would also be encouraged to see more of a green entrance onto the site, helping to incorporate the 
new development with the existing buildings in the area as well as more street tree planting to create a 
green corridor accompanying the road directly through the middle of the development. 

SSDC Community, Health and Leisure: Seeks contributions totalling £305,053 towards local facilities 
which equates to £2,370 per dwelling and comprises £110,344 towards the provision of an onsite 
equipped play space (LEAP) (unless provided by the applicant), £21,666 towards the provision of onsite 
youth facilities (unless provided by the applicant), £93,754 contribution towards providing new changing 
facilities at Gassons Recreation Ground, £79,289 in commuted sums and £3,051 as an administration 
fee.  

NHS England: No comments received.

Police Designing Out Crime Officer: Made the following comments: 

 I have reservations regarding the number of alleyways proposed Unprotected alleyways offer 
anonymity to the criminal allowing access to the rear of properties and escape routes to and from 
the rear parking courts. They are proven crime generators allowing such crimes as anti-social 
behaviour, criminal damage and graffiti to flourish. 

 The permeability allowed across the site by road and extensive pavement would suggest that 
many, if not all of the alleyways could be restricted to only access from the rear gardens of those 
residents who should have access to the rear parking. Please consider a review of these 

Page 22



alleyways. 
 Please provide bollards at the link path near to units 29/30 and 43/44 and the two further link 

paths to the north and east of the site. 

Somerset Waste Partnership: No comments. 

Natural England: No comments received. 

SSDC Ecologist: Original comments - the Ecologist made the following comments: 

From reviewing site plan, I am not satisfied that the proposal sufficiently mitigates and compensates for 
the habitats and species to be affected by the development. Although hedgerows will be retained, apart 
from 3 access ways, the buffer zones appear small or non-existent. Furthermore there are no corridors 
or stepping stones through the site to provide commuting and dispersal, and no visible habitat creation 
areas for protected species and biodiversity. Although an open space is present along the western 
boundary, I do not see any information for how this may benefit biodiversity, as at present the plans look 
to contain recreational landscaping such as amenity grassland and a potential play area. In addition the 
Phase 2 Ecology Surveys and Ecological Impact Assessment, includes outline mitigation measures for 
habitat creation which should be undertaken in order to fully avoid, mitigate and compensate for impacts 
caused from the development, I do not feel there is sufficient space allocated within the current proposal 
for this.

Before proceeding to conditions for mitigating impacts and providing net gains, such as a Landscape 
and Environment Management Plan, to ensure the development adheres to the NPPF, LP Policy EQ4 
(biodiversity) and SSDCs statutory duty under the NERC ACT 2006 I would expect to see the scheme 
re-designed to include a reduction in houses and gardens, and incorporating a design for habitat 
corridors, wildlife areas and buffer zones of 5-10 m around the hedgerows of the site.

Following receipt of these comments the Ecologist was reminded that this application is outline only at 
this stage with matters of layout and landscaping reserved for later consideration. On this basis the 
Ecologist confirmed that he is happy for these matters to be addressed through a pre-commencement 
condition. 

Somerset Wildlife Trust: Generally support the findings of the submitted ecology reports and surveys 
as well as the recommendations for mitigation and enhancement, particularly in respect of bat boxes, 
restricting external lighting, wildflower planting and buffer zones on field edges. We would also request 
the provision of a small number of bird boxes somewhere within the site and request that all the site 
boundaries should be constructed so as to allow the free passage of small mammals. 

SSDC Tree Officer: No comments received.

SSDC Environmental Protection Officer: No observations.

SW Heritage Trust Archaeologist: No objection subject to a condition to secure a programme of 
archaeological work prior to the development commencing. 

Environment Agency: No comment received.

Lead Local Flood Authority (County Drainage): No objections subject to a condition to secure the 
detailed design once layout / impermeable areas have been finalised. 

Noted that they welcomed the undertaking of infiltration testing prior to the submission of outline 
permission as this has helped to inform the drainage strategy for the scheme. The use of soakaways to 
manage a majority of the site drainage is welcomed as infiltration is the most sustainable means of 

Page 23



drainage, and we note the proposal to continue to use the connection to the ditch system for part of the 
access road. 

Somerset Drainage Board Engineer: No comments received. 

Wessex Water: No objections. Noted that additional engineering appraisals will be required as the site 
progresses and information regarding phasing and detailed designs in order to help plan any capacity 
improvements to match the rate of development. 

REPRESENTATIONS

59 local households were notified by letter of the application, site notices advertising the application 
were also displayed in Bancombe Road, Bradley Hill Lane and Northfield Road. A public notice was also 
placed in the Western Gazette to advertise the application. 

Written representations have been received from 7 local households raising the following concerns and 
observations: 

 Concerns relating to Russet Road (the through road that forms part of the Northfield Farm 
development). Russet Road is totally unsuitable as a through road. Existing traffic using this 
route is already a problem for residents and any increase to this would be totally unacceptable. 
Bancombe Road should be reopened to resolve this issue. 

 Russet Road is too narrow with very sharp bends which makes it incapable of serving as a 
through road and as a result cannot cope with the existing through traffic. 

 Unless Russet Road is stopped off as a through road we strongly object to this proposal as it 
can only increase traffic along Russet Road which would compound the existing problems. 

 Some minor accidents have already happened due to the traffic issues associated with Russet 
Road it is only a matter of time for something more serious to happen. 

 Both highways and Somerton Town Council have accepted that Russet Road is unsuitable in its 
current form, the extra traffic pressure this new development would bring is totally unacceptable. 

 No mention is made in the application to the new school proposed to the north or how the 
associated traffic could be accommodated. 

 Disruption to the wildlife corridor along the west border of the Northfields development. 
 Noise pollution from a building site for up to 4 years is a concern. 
 Loss of privacy. Our property backs on to the wildlife corridor and fields (the site) behind our 

house which was one of the driving factors for us to buy this house. With a new development 
immediately behind our house our privacy will be harmed with multiple houses having a clear 
view into our rear garden. 

Applicant's Case

“Somerton is one of the main towns within South Somerset district where growth is directed. It is a 
sustainable location and the site represents a logical extension to the existing urban form of the town. 

The application proposals are in accordance with the Development Plan (read as a whole) and therefore 
should be approved without delay. 

Given the lack of a 5 year supply of deliverable housing land, the delivery of market and affordable 
housing is a material consideration that also points towards an approval of the application. 

As demonstrated within this report (and across the application submission), there are no adverse 
impacts of the proposals that outweigh the benefits of the proposal. 

Accordingly, permission should be granted at the earliest opportunity.”

Page 24



CONSIDERATIONS

Principle of Development

Somerton is identified as a local market town in the local plan, where new development should help to 
increase self-containment and enhance its role as a service centre (policy SS1). The application site is 
located within Somerton’s direction of growth, as set out within LP Policy LMT3, where a permissive 
approach should be taken to new development, subject to the overall scale of growth coming forward 
and other LP policies. Policy LP sets out a minimum housing delivery requirement of 374 dwellings for 
the plan period (2006-2028). Current housing figures identify that to date there have been 254 houses 
completed with a further 239 houses committed (i.e. secured through extant planning permissions or 
under construction), totalling 493 dwellings overall. 

Cumulatively the proposed development along with that already built and permissions granted brings 
the level of housing that could come forward in Somerton to nearly 623 dwellings, which is approximately 
66% greater than the minimum housing figure proposed for Somerton. 

At the present time SSDC cannot demonstrate a five-year housing supply. In these circumstances 
paragraph 11 of the National Planning Policy Framework states that policies that are relevant to the 
supply of housing, i.e. Local Plan Policies SS1, SS4 and SS5, are to be considered to be out of date. It 
further advises that under these circumstances planning permission should be granted unless 1) the 
application of policies in the NPPF that protect areas or assets of particular importance provides a clear 
reason for refusing the development proposed or 2) any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly 
and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the NPPF taken as a 
whole.

Clearly, the housing numbers proposed are significant and do lead to a substantial increase over the 
housing strategy figure. Notwithstanding this however, it remains the case that the housing figure of 374 
dwellings is a minimum, not a maximum, and under Policy SS5, a permissive approach will be taken for 
housing proposals, in advance of a Site Allocations Development Plan Document. The ongoing inability 
of the LPA to demonstrate adequate provision of housing land, and its worsening position, does need 
to be given appropriate weight. Furthermore, the resulting housing numbers would be well below the 
growth targets for settlements within the next tier of the settlement strategy and is not viewed as 
conflicting with the overall distribution strategy set out within the Local Plan. 

When considering the planning balance of this proposal it should be recognised that the additional 
market and affordable housing that will be provided will make a positive contribution towards meeting 
SSDC’s five-year housing supply and should be accorded considerable weight in favour of the scheme. 
It should also be born in mind that the development is located within the direction of growth for Somerton 
and furthermore is a logical infill from a landscape perspective, given its location in amongst existing 
built development, and its close proximity to the settlement’s town centre and local facilities. 

On the basis of the above, it is not considered that the scale of growth over and above the strategic 
housing target would undermine the settlement strategy set out within the Local Plan, or that in this 
instance it would lead to any significant character concerns. The site relates well to surrounding built 
development and is within an easy walking distance to the town centre and local facilities. The benefits 
that would arise from the scheme in terms of its positive contribution towards meeting the district’s 5 
year housing supply requirements as well as providing a good mix of market and affordable dwellings 
are significant. For these reasons the proposal is considered to represent a sustainable form of 
development that is acceptable in principle. 

Impact on the local landscape, visual amenity and density

The site area falls within the scope of the peripheral landscape study of Somerton, indicating the west 

Page 25



side of Somerton as a logical area for further growth should additional housing land be required. In this 
instance the site comprises an island of undeveloped farmland which is bounded by the existing 
development of the Northfield Farm development to the east and the Bancombe Road trading estate to 
the west with further approvals now granted for a mix of housing and industrial on the remaining 
adjoining land to the west of the site. This scheme seeks to infill this remaining gap between the existing 
built development and represents a logical and sympathetic infill from a landscape and visual 
perspective. 

This scheme is proposing a density of approximately 30 dwellings per hectare (worked out based on the 
net developable area) which is comparable with surrounding development. The scheme is only seeking 
outline consent at this stage as such the layout plan provided is indicative only, however, it sets out how 
a scheme of this density / scale might be achievable on the site and would relate to surrounding 
development. 

The scheme indicates the retention of the existing native field hedgerows on the site with an area of 
open space siting along the western boundary which would also offer a bit of a buffer between some of 
the new housing the nearby industrial development. The development proposes to comprise mainly 2-
storey houses which would reflect the general scale / height of surrounding development. 

It is not considered that development of this type and at this density is inappropriate in principle in this 
location. In any event the layout, house types, density and landscaping proposals would be fully 
considered at the reserved matters stage. 

Residential Amenity

The indicative layout offers an arrangement that should allow future residents and existing neighbouring 
residents to enjoy a good level of residential amenity. It is noted that a neighbour who adjoins the east 
side of the site has expressed concerns with regard to possible overlooking and general loss of privacy 
as a result of this development, however, there is no apparent reason why an acceptable scheme could 
not be achieved that would avoid causing any demonstrable harm to existing local residents in this 
regard. Furthermore, it is acknowledged that the outlook of adjacent neighbouring residents will be 
altered by the development, however, the mere loss of a view cannot justify withholding planning 
permission and in any case the view will change from fields to one that is suburban in character which 
is not out of keeping given the context of the site. Overall this outline scheme raises no substantive 
residential amenity concerns. 

Access and Highway Safety

The key concerns raised locally in respect of this proposal relate to existing concerns they have in 
relation to the new through road (Russet Road) that passes through the adjoining development known 
as Northfield Farm to the east and which links Bancombe Road to Langport Road / Northfield Road. 
Concerns have been raised at a local level to the highway authority about the width and arrangement 
of this through road which they state is too narrow and poorly aligned to be able to accommodate existing 
traffic levels through the development safely. Their concerns are that the current proposal, which will 
obviously generate additional traffic on the local highway network, will exacerbate this problem which 
they feel is already unacceptable for safety reasons. It is understood that in response to these concerns 
a temporary Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) has been authorised to stop up one end of Russet Road in 
order to prevent traffic passing through this estate and so limiting traffic to that associated with the 
Northfield Farm development only. 

Whilst these local concerns are acknowledged the Highway Authority has not raised any objection to 
this scheme based on traffic generation and compatibility issues with the local highway network. Their 
initial comments paid little regard to this particular issue and they were asked to give further 
consideration to concerns raised by the Town Council and local residents which they duly did. 

Page 26



The application is supported by a Traffic Assessment (TA) which when scrutinised by the HA they 
realised there were a couple of minor inconsistencies with their modelling and data flows however they 
carried out their own assessment in relation to these issues and concluded that this proposal would not 
give rise to any capacity issues in regard to the local highway network. Without any substantive evidence 
to support the local views it is accepted, on the basis of the HA’s comments that this proposal will not 
lead to any significant traffic related issues in respect of local road network.  

The development is to be served by a single new vehicular access leading on to Bancombe Road with 
any other existing field accesses leading on to Bradley Hill Lane to the north to be stopped up to 
vehicular traffic. The proposal includes a 5.5m wide access and the provision of a 2m wide pavement 
along the entire Bancombe Road frontage and at the request of the Highway Authority (HA) an informal 
crossing point is to be provided to link this pavement to the existing footway on the opposite side of the 
road. The proposal also includes a cycle / pedestrian link on to Bradley Hill Lane to the north, which will 
provide a link through to the new primary school. Finally, the applicant has also offered to set aside an 
area of land around the cycle/pedestrian access that would allow for a potential vehicular link through 
the site and via Bradley Hill Lane should this connection be required in the future for the new school. 
They are also willing to take the estate road to within 2 metres of the boundary with Bradley Hill Lane to 
minimise the need for any works within the development should this link be required. These last matters 
relating to a future vehicular link are to be secured through a Section 106 Agreement.  

The Highway Authority has noted that instead of the expected 43 metre visibility splays in either direction 
for the new estate access the indicated splays only extend to 40 metres. This appears to be an oversight 
on the behalf of the applicant, as such amended splay details have been requested and this matter will 
be secured by condition. 

The HA has raised a number of issues with the submitted Travel Plan which need addressing before 
this can be endorsed. This is a matter that is usually secured through a Section 106 Agreement, and as 
such is not a matter to hold up determining this application. 

In all other respects and as a matter of principle the HA has no objections to this proposal subject to a 
number of conditions being imposed to secure certain detailed matters, all of which form part of the 
officer’s recommendation. On this basis the proposal is considered to be acceptable from a highway 
safety point of view. 

Flooding and Drainage

The site is located within flood zone 1 and as such is considered to be at the lowest risk to flooding. The 
application is supported by a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) which includes an overarching drainage 
strategy for the scheme based on sustainable drainage techniques. The Lead Local Flood Authority 
(LLFA) has raised no concerns in relation to these details and subject to a condition to secure a detailed 
drainage strategy, based on the final detailed layout to be agreed at reserved matters stage, they have 
no objection to this development. On this basis, the proposal is not considered to raise any significant 
flooding or drainage concerns. 

Ecology

The application site comprises two agricultural fields that are bounded by native hedgerows with only a 
few trees set within the hedgerows. The site is not subject to any special habitat or wildlife designation. 

This application is supported by a Phase 1 Survey and Preliminary Ecological Appraisal and Phase 2 
Surveys and Ecological Impact Assessment. The Council’s Ecologist has reviewed these details and 
has raised some concerns in respect of the indicative layout plan provided which he considers does not 
make sufficient provision for mitigation and compensation of the impact of the development or for 

Page 27



biodiversity enhancements, as required by the NPPF. These matters have been raised with the applicant 
who has not wished to amend the suggested layout plan at this stage. 

It has been pointed out to the Council’s Ecologist that the application is only outline and that matters of 
layout and landscaping are to be considered later under reserved matters. On this basis he has 
acknowledged that the matters raised can be dealt with appropriately through condition rather than 
requiring them at this time. Accordingly a condition requiring a landscape and ecological management 
plan (LEMP), as recommended by the Ecologist, forms part of the officer’s recommendation and for 
these reasons the proposal is not considered to give rise to any substantive ecology concerns. 

Heritage 

The South West Heritage Trust were consulted as to the impacts of the development on any archaeology 
in the area. No objections were raised to the proposal, subject to a condition to secure a programme of 
archaeological investigations prior to the commencement of the development. 

There are no designated heritage assets such as listed buildings or conservation areas either adjoining 
the site or in its immediate vicinity whose setting might be affected by the development. 

Planning Obligations

This scheme generates the following planning obligations in order to make to mitigate its impacts / meet 
the requirements generated by this additional housing. The applicant has agreed to all of these 
obligations and which need to be secured through an appropriate Section 106 Agreement. 

Education 

County Education initially sought contributions of amounting to £1,308,985 of which £118,518 was to go 
towards early year provision, £717,108 towards primary provision and £472,359 towards secondary. 
Their request however has since been reduced after further analysis and questioning by the applicant 
to £599,999 which is to go towards the provision of additional primary school places provision (which 
equates to 35 primary school pupils) to meet the needs generated by the development. 

SSDC Community, Health and Leisure, and County Education

The SSDC Community, Health and Leisure department seeks contributions totalling £305,053 towards 
local facilities which equates to £2,370 per dwelling and comprises £110,344 towards the provision of 
an onsite equipped play space (LEAP) (unless provided by the applicant), £21,666 towards the provision 
of onsite youth facilities (unless provided by the applicant), £93,754 contribution towards providing new 
changing facilities at Gassons Recreation Ground, £79,289 in commuted sums and £3,051 as an 
administration fee.  

Open Space

The indicative site layout plan identifies approximately 0.32 hectare of public open space (POS), 
however the Council’s Open Spaces team has identified that 0.5 hectares of POS is required for a 
scheme of this size (not including the onsite LEAP). This matter has been raised with the applicant who 
has agreed to the amount of open space sought by the Open Spaces team. 

The Open Spaces team have raised a number of other matters which relate to detailed layout which as 
such should be dealt with at reserved matters stage when the layout and landscaping details are 
considered. 

Page 28



Affordable Housing

SSDC Strategic Housing has requested, on the basis of their policy requirements 35% affordable 
housing to be split 80:20, social rent:intermediate product. This equates to 46 of the proposed 130 
dwellings being  affordable, of which 37 would be for social rent 37 and 9 for other intermediate 
affordable housing of the following mix of house sizes: 

14 x 1 bed houses / flats  
14 x 2 bed houses / flats / bungalows  
16 x 3 bed houses / bungalows
1 x 4 bed house (available at a social rent)  
1 x 4 bed parlour house (available at a social rent)

It is expected that the units would also comply with the minimum space requirements specified by 
Strategic Housing. 

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)

The proposed development will also be liable for Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) payments, which 
cover some of the strategic facilities requested earlier.

Planning Balance and Conclusion

When considering the planning balance of this proposal it should be recognised that application site is 
located within the area identified as being in the direction of growth for Somerton, and relates well to 
existing built form as well the local services that can be found within this settlement. Whilst the resulting 
cumulative housing growth for Somerton will take it significantly above that set out within the Local Plan, 
such targets are a minimum target, and in any case are not considered to undermine the overall Local 
Plan housing strategy. Furthermore, with the continuing absence of a five-year housing supply such 
Local Plan policies that seek to constrain / control housing growth should be considered to be out of 
date. 

The proposal will result in additional market and affordable housing that will make a meaningful and 
positive contribution towards meeting SSDC’s five-year housing requirements, a matter that must be 
given substantial weight in its favour. 

The local concerns raised regarding the existing local road network are noted. However, the Highway 
Authority have been clear in their opinion that this proposal will not result in any capacity issues on the 
local road network that warrants refusing this application. No evidence has been provided to undermine 
/ challenge the HA’s professional views, as such it must be concluded that the proposal will not lead to 
any new severe highway safety concerns in this regard. 

No substantive adverse impacts on the landscape, ecology, drainage, residential amenity, the historic 
environment or other environmental concerns have been identified that justify withholding outline 
planning permission and the agreement of the details of means of access. All outstanding matters of 
detail would be adequately assessed at reserved matters stage or by the agreement of details required 
by condition. The applicant has agreed to pay the appropriate contributions and provision of the other 
obligations sought through a Section 106 Agreement. 

Therefore, notwithstanding the local concerns raised, the proposed development is considered to 
represent an appropriate and sustainable form of development that accords with the aims and objectives 
of the relevant policies of the South Somerset Local Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

Accordingly the application is recommended for approval. 

Page 29



RECOMMENDATION

The application be approved subject to:-

(i) The prior completion of a Section 106 planning obligation (in a form acceptable to the Council's 
solicitor(s)) before the decision notice granting planning permission is issued,to secure the following:

(a) A contribution of £305,053 (or £2,370 per dwelling) towards recreational infrastructure, to 
the satisfaction of the Director of Strategy & Commissioning broken down as:

 
 £110,344 towards the provision of an onsite equipped play space (LEAP) (unless 

provided by the applicant); 
 £21,666 towards the provision of onsite youth facilities (unless provided by the 

applicant);
 £93,754 contribution towards providing new changing facilities at Gassons 

Recreation Ground;  £79,289 in commuted sums; and 
 £3,051 as an administration fee.  

(b) Onsite open space equating to 0.5 hectares in area, to the satisfaction of South Somerset 
District Council.

 
(c) At least 35% of the dwellings as affordable dwellings with a tenure split of 80:20 in favour 

of rented accommodation over other intermediate types, to the satisfaction of the Strategic 
Housing Officer. 

(d) A contribution of £599,999 towards the cost of providing additional primary school places, 
to the satisfaction of Somerset County Council.  

(e) A buffer area around the proposed cycle / pedestrian access leading on to Bradley Hill 
Lane to be secured and kept available solely for the purpose of providing a vehicular route 
from the site on to Bradley Hill Lane, should such a vehicular link be required in the future. 
The internal estate road serving the development shall link directly with this cycle / 
pedestrian access and shall be constructed to within 2 metres of the boundary of Bradley 
Hill Lane within the agreed buffer area, to the satisfaction of the County Highway Authority 
and with the agreement of the Development Manager. 

(f) Travel Plan measures to the satisfaction of the County Highway Authority with the 
agreement of the Development Manager, and to be fully implemented in accordance with 
the agreed details.  

and

(ii) conditions, as set out below:

Justification: 

Notwithstanding the local concerns, the provision of up to 130 houses and community facilities in this 
sustainable location would contribute to the council’s housing supply without demonstrable harm to the 
local landscape, the character of the settlement, residential or visual amenity, ecology, archaeology, 
flooding and drainage or highway safety, and without compromising the provision of services and 
facilities in the settlement or the settlement hierarchy set out in the Local Plan. As such the scheme is 
considered to comply with the aims and objectives of policies SD1, SS1, SS4, SS5, SS6, LMT3, HG3, 

Page 30



TA1, TA4, TA5, TA6, HW1, EQ1, EQ2, EQ3, EQ4, EQ5 and EQ7 of the South Somerset Local Plan 
(2006-2028) and the provisions of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

Subject to the following conditions: 

01. Details of the appearance, landscaping, layout and scale (herein called the “reserved matters”) 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority before any 
development begins and the development shall be carried out as approved. 

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 

02. All reserved matters shall be submitted in the form of one application to show a comprehensive 
and coherent scheme with respect to appearance, landscaping, layout and scale to the local 
planning authority before the expiration of three years from the date of this permission, and before 
any development is commenced on site. The development shall begin no later than three years 
from the date of this permission or not later than two years from the approval of the reserved 
matters application. 

Reason:  As required by Section 92(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

03. The site hereby approved for development shall be as shown on the submitted location plan 
drawing number 1818/PL.01. 

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interest of proper planning. 

04. The development hereby permitted shall comprise no more than 130 dwellings. 

Reason: To ensure that the level and density of development is appropriate to the location and 
commensurate with levels of contributions sought in accordance with policies SD1, SS6, HG3 and 
HW1 of the South Somerset Local Plan. 

05. Before any work is commenced a programme showing the phasing of the development shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Following such approval and 
commencement of the development hereby permitted the works comprised in the development 
shall not be carried out otherwise than in complete accordance with such approved programme or 
such other phasing programme as the Local Planning Authority may in writing subsequently 
approve.

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt as to the potential impacts on the local road network and 
the relative timescales involved, in the interests of highway safety and efficiency and in 
accordance with policy TA5 of the South Somerset Local Plan.

06. No development shall commence unless a Construction Environmental Management Plan has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The works shall be 
carried out strictly in accordance with the approved plan. The plan shall include:

 Construction vehicle movements;
 Construction operation hours;
 Construction vehicular routes to and from site;
 Construction delivery hours;
 Expected number of construction vehicles per day;
 Car parking for contractors;

Page 31



 Specific measures to be adopted to mitigate construction impacts in pursuance of the 
Environmental Code of Construction Practice;

 A scheme to encourage the use of Public Transport amongst contractors; 
 Measures to avoid traffic congestion impacting upon the Strategic Road Network; and 
 Construction phase on-site vehicle wheel washing facilities.

Reason: To ensure all works are undertaken with a little impact on the highway network as 
possible, in the interests of highway safety and efficiency and in accordance with policy TA5 of 
the South Somerset Local Plan.

07. The proposed estate roads, footways, footpaths, tactile paving, cycleways, bus stops/bus lay-
bys, verges, junctions, street lighting, sewers,  drains, retaining walls, service routes, surface 
water outfall, vehicle overhang margins, embankments, visibility splays, accesses, carriageway 
gradients, drive gradients, car, motorcycle and cycle parking, and street furniture shall be 
constructed and laid out in accordance with details to be approved by the Local Planning 
Authority in writing before their construction begins. For this purpose, plans and sections, 
indicating as appropriate, the design, layout, levels, gradients, materials and method of 
construction shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interest of highway safety to accord with Policy TA5 of the South Somerset Local 
Plan (2006-2028). 

08. The proposed roads, including footpaths and turning spaces where applicable, shall be 
constructed in such a manner as to ensure that each dwelling before it is occupied shall be 
served by a properly consolidated and surfaced footpath and carriageway to at least base course 
level between the dwelling and existing highway.

Reason: To ensure that the dwellings hereby permitted are served by an appropriate highway 
network prior to their occupation, in the interests of user safety and efficiency and in accordance 
with policy TA5 in the South Somerset Local Plan (2006-2028).

09. Prior to occupation the parking spaces for the dwellings and all properly consolidated and 
surfaced turning spaces for vehicles shall be provided and constructed within the site in 
accordance with current policy standards. Such parking and turning spaces shall be kept clear 
of obstruction at all times and shall not be used other than for the parking and turning of vehicles 
in connection with the development hereby permitted.

Reason: To ensure all new residents can access their properties in a controlled manner and to 
remove the risk of indiscriminate parking within the highway in the interests of highway safety 
and efficiency and in accordance with policy TA5 of the South Somerset Local Plan (2006-2028).

10. For the main estate access onto Bancombe Road there shall be no obstruction to visibility greater 
than 300 millimetres above adjoining road level in advance of lines drawn 2.4 metres back from 
the carriageway edge on the centre line of the access and extending to points on the nearside 
carriageway edge 43 metres either side of the access. Such visibility shall be fully provided 
before the development hereby permitted is commenced and shall thereafter be maintained at 
all times.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and in accordance with policy TA5 of the South 
Somerset Local Plan.

11. Prior to occupation of any dwelling the following highway infrastructure improvements shall be 
provided in their entirety:

Page 32



 A footway measuring no less than 2m in width shall be provided across the site frontage 
in Bancombe Road;

 The new pedestrian/cycle Link to Bradley Hill Lane; and
 An informal pedestrian crossing point of Bancombe Road to link to the existing footway 

opposite the site.

Reason: To ensure the new pedestrian and cycling movements generated by the development 
can be accommodated within the local highway network in the interests of user safety and 
efficiency and in accordance with policies SS6, and TA5 in the South Somerset Local Plan.

12. The development hereby permitted shall not commence unless a foul and surface water drainage 
scheme for the site which shall include a timetable for its implementation and a scheme for the 
future responsibility and maintenance of the surface water drainage system. Such drainage shall 
be based on the hydrological and hydrogeological context of the development and shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The scheme shall 
subsequently be implemented in accordance with the approved details before the development is 
completed. 

Reason: To prevent the increased risk of flooding, to improve and protect water quality, improve 
habitat and amenity, and ensure future maintenance of the surface water drainage system in 
accordance with Policies SD1, EQ1, EQ2 and EQ7 of the South Somerset Local Plan (2006-2028) 
and the provisions of the National Planning Policy Framework.

13. Before the commencement of the development hereby permitted the applicant, or their agents 
or successors in title, shall have secured the implementation of a programme of archaeological 
work in accordance with a Written Scheme of Investigation (WSI) which has been submitted and 
approved in writing by the Planning Authority. The WSI shall include details of the archaeological 
investigation, the analysis of evidence recovered from the site and publication of the results. The 
development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the approved scheme."

Reason: To ensure that adequate opportunity is afforded for investigation of archaeological or 
other items of interest to accord with Policies EH3 of the South Somerset Local Plan (2006-2028). 

14. A landscape and ecological management plan (LEMP) shall be submitted to and be approved in 
writing by the local planning authority prior to the commencement of the development. The 
content of the LEMP shall include the following:

 Description and evaluation of features to be managed.
 Ecological trends and constraints on site that might influence management.
 Aims and objectives of management.
 Appropriate management options for achieving aims and objectives.
 Prescriptions for management actions, including:

- Preparation of a work schedule (including an annual work plan capable of being 
rolled forward over a five-year period).

- Details of the body or organization responsible for implementation of the plan.
- On-going monitoring and remedial measures.

The LEMP shall also include details of the legal and funding mechanism(s) by which the long-
term implementation of the plan will be secured by the developer with the management 
body(ies)/new residents responsible for its delivery. The plan shall also set out (where the results 
from monitoring show that conservation aims and objectives of the LEMP are not being met) how 
contingencies and/or remedial action will be identified, agreed and implemented so that the 
development still delivers the fully functioning biodiversity objectives of the originally approved 

Page 33



scheme. The approved plan will be implemented in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: To ensure the development contributes to the Government’s target of no net biodiversity 
loss as set out in the National Planning Policy Framework; South Somerset District Council Local 
Plan - Policy EQ4 Biodiversity; and the council’s obligations for biodiversity under the Natural 
Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006. 
     

15. The proposed new residential development shall include 16amp electric charging points for 
electric vehicles, accessible to all residences, details of which shall have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to any part of the development hereby 
permitted being first occupied, as required by Policy TA1 (ii) (low carbon travel) of the adopted 
South Somerset Local Plan and paras 35, 93 and 94 of the NPPF. Once approved, such details 
shall be completed and maintained in accordance with the details and timetable agreed.

Reason: To ensure that the development is resilient and sustainable in accordance with policy 
TA1 of the South Somerset Local Plan (2006-2028) and the provisions of the National Planning 
Policy Framework.

Informatives: 

01. Please be advised that approval of this application by South Somerset District Council will attract 
a liability payment under the Community Infrastructure Levy.  CIL is a mandatory financial charge 
on development and you will be notified of the amount of CIL being charged on this development 
in a CIL Liability Notice.

You are required to complete and return Form 1 Assumption of Liability as soon as possible and 
to avoid additional financial penalties it is important that you notify us of the date you plan to 
commence development before any work takes place.  Please complete and return Form 6 
Commencement Notice.

You are advised to visit our website for further details https://www.southsomerset.gov.uk/cil or 
email cil@southsomerset.gov.uk.

02. For all works which affect the highway, or which will be put forward for adoption as highway 
maintainable at public expense, full technical and construction details will be subject to a suitable 
agreement with the Highway Authority under s278 and s38 of the Highways Act 1980. 

Page 34


	Agenda
	8 Community Capital Grant Request to the Parochial Church Council of All Saints Church, Isle Brewers (Executive Decision)
	9 Area North Committee Forward Plan
	10 Planning Appeals
	11 Schedule of Planning Applications to be Determined By Committee
	12 Planning Application 18/03483/OUT** - Land to the North of Bancombe Road, Somerton.

